
TO:  Town Plan & Zoning Commission 
 
FROM: Alter & Pearson, LLC 
 
DATE:  July 15, 2021 (revised July 16, 2021) 
 
RE:  Response to Letter Submitted by Dr. Scott Bissell, 156 Dug Road, South 

Glastonbury dated June 5, 2021 as Requested by Town Staff and Plans Review 
Subcommittee 

 
Town Staff and members of the Plans Review Subcommittee requested that the Applicant respond 
to a letter submitted by Dr. Scott Bissell, 156 Dug Road, South Glastonbury dated June 5, 2021 
(letter attached as Exhibit A). 
 
Since April 27, 2020, Dr. Bissell has submitted complaints to the Town’s Q-Alert system regarding 
issues he attributes to Hops on the Hill (“HOTH”) and/or Dug Road.   Attached as Exhibit B, are 
Dr. Bissell’s thirty-one (31) complaints including speeding, potholes, paving requests1, and tree 
pruning.  The speeding complaints were investigated by the Police Department.  The data from the 
studies performed by the Police Department and Engineering Department on Dug Road adjacent 
to Dr. Bissell’s home (Exhibit C) found that the 85th percentile of speed was 22.3 mph in the first 
study and 25 mph in the second study.  The posted speed limit on Dug Road is 25 mph. 
 
Below please find the Applicant’s responses to Dr. Scott Bissell letter dated June 5, 2021, as 
requested by Town Staff and members of the Plans Review Subcommittee.  
1. “[t]he brewery is open far more than often than the Commission approved.  Most obvious was 

that the approval was for March through December, yet this year it was open in January and 
February.” 
• The 2018 approval included no express condition as to the times of the year that Hops on 

the Hill could be open. At the 2018 public hearing Commissioner Hassett asked about the 
“general anticipated time of operation”, to which Attorney Alter stated that the “the hours 
of operation would be as follows...Tuesday through Friday 4-8 PM, Saturday and Sunday 
1-6 PM, from March to December, January and February, it is not anticipated that the 
farm market brewery would be open to the public”.  HOTH chose to be open to the public 
18 hours a week, Thursday through Friday, 4-8 PM, and Saturday and Sunday from 1-6 
PM.   Last year HOTH elected to close the week of Christmas and New Year’s and 
operated on reduced hours in January and February (Saturday and Sunday, 1 PM-6 PM). 
Patrons continue to visit the Site in the winter months, including coming to the Site on 
snowshoes and cross-country skis. 

2. “The brewery is also available for events and other activities outside the hours that were 
discussed at the public hearing.” 
• Private events are held at HOTH, and typically occur outside of the time that the Site is 

open to the public.  Examples of the private events include club meetings, engagement 
 

1 Dug Road is a Town road approximately 4,400± feet in length.  The road has both paved and dirt/gravel portions.  
Dug Road is paved from Tryon Street to just past the HOTH driveway entrance (1,200± feet in length).  The road 
then turns to a surface of dirt/gravel just before Dr. Bissell’s driveway (1,700± feet in length).  The road then 
changes back to a paved surface to Main Street (1,500± feet in length). 



parties, yoga classes, fundraisers, seminars, and end-of-life celebrations.  No approvals 
for private events are required.  This is consistent with private events that occur at other 
business and farms in Glastonbury. 

3. “Hops on the Hill appears to be a bar/taproom as they applied for an were granted a CT Craft 
Cafe Liquor Permit.  They now serve beer from other vendors.  This is different than what was 
presented at the public meeting.” 
• HOTH has always been in compliance with its liquor permit.  On July 1, 2020, several 

existing liquor permit types were repealed and reclassified.  The changes applied to the 
Beer Manufacturing and Brew Pub Permits, which was the type of permit issued to Hops 
on the Hill Brewery (Permit LMP.0000092) on June 11, 2019, which covered both the 
brewing and the serving.  On October 11, 2020, when the LMP permit was set to be 
renewed, the LMP permit was removed and replaced with an LMB permit (Permit 
LMB.0001571) (Manufacturer for Beer).  Under the previous LMB permit, HOTH was 
able to serve the beer it made, together with wine and cider made by others.  The wine and 
cider options are offered for patrons who do not drink beer and/or are gluten free.  The 
Connecticut Craft Cafe Liquor Permit continues that practice. Placarding procedures were 
followed, and the Liquor Control Division issued the Connecticut Craft Cafe Liquor 
Permit on February 16, 2021 (LCR.0000016), after all needed sign-offs were secured by 
the Town of Glastonbury. 

• HOTH has ten beer taps, with nine out of the ten pouring HOTH beer.   Patrons requested 
that HOTH carry a sour beer, since the production of a sour beer is not feasible in the 
HOTH facility due to the duration that it takes to ferment a sour beer, a guest tap is being 
carried. 

4. “I would respectfully point out that a beer with 9.2% alcohol level is not in keeping with the 
above statement from the May 2018 meeting.  It is notable that the applicant at that time took 
umbrage with the notion that beer with high alcohol content would be available.” 
• Of the ten beers on tap only one beer exceeds the alcohol content that was anticipated.  

Please note that beer with a higher alcohol content is served in fewer fluid ounces (8 oz. 
pour instead of a 16 oz. pour). 

5. “Attorney Alter confirmed for the record that there will be no outdoor consumption of beer 
allowed and no outdoor music/speakers.  He also stated that there are no plans for food service 
on site.” 
• Attorney Alter’s statement was made in response to a question from Commissioner 

Hassett at the May 15, 2018, public hearing.  On March 19, 2019, the Commission 
approved a §12.9 Minor Change to allow no more than two food trucks at the Site for 
seasonal events, which consisted of ten weekend events. Indoor acoustic music was also 
permitted. During COVID-19 the Executive Orders required that alcohol consumption be 
limited to outdoor areas and that alcohol had to be served in conjunction with food.  The 
COIVD-19 Executive Orders demonstrated that there was a clear positive enhancement 
to HOTH with the incorporation of a food truck on a regular basis, and outdoor use and 
consumption.  Most patrons continue to feel more comfortable being outside.  HOTH has 
no plans for the addition a commercial kitchen or for the service of beer outside. 

• The Applicant applied for and received a permit from the Building Department for the 
tent. On May 18, 2021, the Applicant met on Site with Rebecca Auger, Director of 
Planning and Land Use Services and Jonathan Mullen, Planner regarding complaints from 
Dr. Bissell.  On May 19, 2021, the Applicant applied to add an accessory food truck use 



for non-private events at Hops on the Hill on Thursday and Friday from 4 PM to 8 PM 
and Saturday and Sunday from 1 PM to 6 PM. The Applicant attended the Plans Review 
Subcommittee Meeting on June 9, 2021, and amended its request to continue the outdoor 
use and consumption on July 9, 2021. 

6. “Once again, speaking to the change in the scope and nature of the operation I would call your 
attention to the police report #21-9303 from 5/29/2021.  After a few hours of loud music 
emanating from Hops on the Hill I made a noise complaint around 9pm.  This is well after the 
published and approved brewery hours had ended (Saturday closes at 6pm).  As you can see 
from the police report an event being held at the brewery with amplified music was observed.” 
• A private event was held at Hops on the Hill on May 29, 2021, which ended at 9:30 PM.  

Officer Ingham’s police report (Exhibit D) indicates that “[u]pon my arrival, I parked my 
cruiser halfway up the driveway of HOTH and listened for obvious signs of music. In the 
distance I could hear amplified music but would not say the noise was excessive.”  Further, 
Officer Ingham indicated that “Scott stated that he wanted the incident to be documented 
for purposes of taking the reports to Town Planning & Zoning Commission meetings.  
Scott was given a copy of the case number and was pleased with the outcome.  Let it be 
noted that while speaking with Scott outside his residence I personally could not hear any 
amplified music.” Glastonbury does not have a noise ordinance. 

7. “The top portion of Dug Road as it intersects Main Street is dangerous due to insufficient sight 
lines for traffic looking left and turning onto Main Street. I know the town has been made 
aware of a significant accident that occurred recently involving a vehicle pulling out at this 
location.” 
• A two-vehicle car accident occurred on Monday, March 29, 2021 at 3:11 PM at the 

intersection of Dug Road and Main Street. Hops on the Hill was not open at the time of 
the accident, and the cars involved in the accident were that of two local residents.  
Attached please find the Police Crash Report (Case Number: 2100005339) for the above-
referenced accident (Exhibit E). 

 
























































































































































































































































